

NPFC-2021-BFME02-WP05

Using Predictive Habitat Models and Visual Surveys to Identify Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems on Seamounts in the North Pacific Fisheries Commission Convention Area

Devon R. Warawa¹, Jackson W. F. Chu¹, Chris N. Rooper¹, Samuel Georgian², Jessica Nephin¹, Sarah Dudas¹, Anders Knudby³, Janelle M. R. Curtis¹

¹Fisheries and Oceans Canada; ²Marine Conservation Institute; ³University of Ottawa

December 2021

2nd Floor Hakuyo Hall,
Tokyo University of Marine Science and Technology,
4-5-7 Konan, Minato-ku, Tokyo
108-8477, JAPAN

 TEL
 +81-3-5479-8717

 FAX
 +81-3-5479-8718

 Email
 secretariat@npfc.int

 Web
 www.npfc.int

Predictive Habitat Models and Visual Surveys to Identify Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems on Seamounts in the North Pacific Fisheries Commission Convention Area

Devon R. Warawa¹, Jackson W. F. Chu¹, Chris N. Rooper¹, Samuel Georgian², Jessica Nephin¹, Sarah Dudas¹, Anders Knudby³, Janelle M. R. Curtis¹

¹Fisheries and Oceans Canada; ²Marine Conservation Institute; ³University of Ottawa

ABSTRACT

The United Nations General Assembly called upon States to manage fisheries sustainably and protect vulnerable marine ecosystems (VMEs) from destructive fishing practices when they adopted Resolution 61/105 in 2006. The Convention on the Conservation and Management of High Seas Fisheries Resources in the North Pacific Ocean requires North Pacific Fisheries Commission (NPFC) members to develop a process to identify VMEs using the best scientific information available. NPFC identified four taxonomic groups of corals as indicators of potential VMEs but has not yet developed objective and quantitative definitions of VMEs based on catches, visual surveys, predictive models, or other types of information. Moreover, to date no VMEs have been identified in the northeast (NE) part of the NPFC Convention Area (CA). In 2021, the NPFC's Small Working Group (SWG) on VMEs proposed the first step in a framework to use the best available data to identify VMEs, including visual data (i.e. video and/or photographic images) and predictive models. Canada has limited visual data and model predictions of the suitable habitat for VME indicator taxa in the NE part of NPFC's CA where it fishes for Sablefish (Anoplopoma fimbria). In this working paper, we propose one quantitative method of VME identification that integrates visual data and model predictions in a manner that aligns with the SWG VME's framework, the precautionary approach, the Convention, and the research plan of NPFC's Scientific Committee. We use data from Cobb Seamount to illustrate our proposed methodology. Exploratory application of our approach leads to the identification of 83 1-km² areas that are likely to be VMEs at depths ranging from the pinnacle of Cobb at 18 m to 1,573 m, including one VME on the northwest flank of Cobb Seamount. The primary goal for this working paper is to propose and receive feedback on our approach before applying it to identify VMEs and areas that are likely to be VMEs in the NE part of the NPFC's CA. Next steps include (1) revising our approach based on input from NPFC members, stakeholders, and observers,

(2), applying our revised method and identifying VMEs and areas that are likely to be VMEs in the NE part of the NPFC CA, and (3) engaging in periodic review of the analyses, especially when new data become available.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT1
Reason for identifying Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems
Balancing the objectives of protecting VMEs while minimizing impacts to commercial bottom fisheries
Seamounts in the North Pacific Ocean
What are VME indicator taxa?
Structural complexity formed by VME indicator taxa
Approaches applied to identifying VMEs
Data limitations for identification of VMEs in the Northeast Pacific Ocean
A quantitative method for identifying VMEs in the NE Pacific Ocean using predictive models and visual surveys
A case study of our proposed approach on Cobb Seamount10
METHODS
VME indicator taxa10
Study area11
General approach to identifying VMEs12
Step 1. Identify a quantitative threshold for VME occurrence

	Step 2. Develop predictive models for VME indicator taxa	. 15
;	Step 3. Determine areas likely to be VMEs	. 19
	Step 4. Use supporting visual data in areas likely to be VMEs	. 20
	Step 5. Determine if VME criteria are met	. 20
RES	ULTS & DISCUSSION	. 20
Ge	eneral approach to identifying VMEs	.21
;	Step 1. Identify a quantitative threshold for VME occurrence	.21
;	Step 2. Develop predictive models for VME indicator taxa	. 22
;	Step 3. Determine areas likely to be VMEs	. 25
:	Step 4. Gather supporting visual data in areas likely to be VMEs	. 26
:	Step 5. Determine if VME criteria are met	. 27
Fis	sheries interaction	. 29
CON	ICLUSIONS	. 31
Ne	ext steps	. 31
REF	ERENCES	. 32
ANN	IEXES	. 35
AN	NNEX 1 – Additional details on Predictive Habitat Models (PHMs)	. 35
AN	NNEX 2 – Alternative results for VMEs and areas likely to be VMEs	. 40
AN	NNEX 3 – Visual data taxa	. 41
AN	NNEX REFERENCES	. 42

INTRODUCTION

Reason for identifying Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems

Bottom-contact fishing gears are known to harm fragile seafloor habitats, including biogenic structures formed by corals and sponges (Ardron et al. 2014). In 2006, the United Nations General Assembly (UNGA) Resolution 61/105 called upon "States to take action immediately, individually and through fisheries management organizations and arrangements, and consistent with the precautionary and ecosystem approaches, to sustainably manage fish stocks and protect vulnerable marine ecosystems (VMEs), including seamounts, hydrothermal vents and cold water corals, from destructive fishing practices, recognizing the immense importance and value of deep sea ecosystems and the biodiversity they contain" (UNGA 2006). The Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) subsequently published guidelines for the management of deep-sea fisheries in international waters. Those guidelines outlined five criteria of areas, habitats, or ecosystems that should be used individually or in combination to identify VMEs: (1) uniqueness or rarity, (2) functional significance of the habitat, (3) fragility, (4) life-history traits of component species that make recovery difficult, and (5) structural complexity (FAO 2009). The FAO also recommended the development of case-specific operational definitions of VMEs for their application (see examples in Kenchington et al. 2014, Morato et al. 2018, Miyamoto & Yonezaki 2019, Rowden et al. 2020).

In its research plan, the North Pacific Fisheries Commission's (NPFC) Scientific Committee recognizes the importance of developing a process for identifying VMEs so that they can be protected from significant adverse impacts (SAIs) caused by bottom fishing practices. Article 10(4) of the Convention on the Conservation and Management of High Seas Fisheries Resources in the North Pacific Ocean (henceforth the Convention) asserts that the NPFC shall "develop a process to identify vulnerable marine ecosystems, including relevant criteria for doing so, and identify, based on the best scientific information available, areas or features where these ecosystems are known to occur, or are likely to occur..." The NPFC Scientific Committee's 2020-24 Research Plan aims specifically to "develop consensus on criteria used to identify VMEs and how this might be applied in the NPFC." The NPFC's Conservation and Management Measures (CMMs) 2019-06 (NPFC 2019) and 2021-05 (NPFC 2021a) provide science-based standards and criteria for identification of VMEs and state: "The purpose of the standards and criteria is to provide guidelines for each member of the Commission in identifying VMEs and assessing SAIs of individual bottom fishing activities on VMEs or marine species in the Convention Area (CA)." Guidance on science-based standards and criteria for identification of VMEs in the CA are given in NPFC's CMMs 2019-06 and 2021-05 (see Annex 2 in NPFC 2019, 2021a). Although seamounts, hydrothermal vents and cold-water corals are referred to as examples of VMEs in paragraph 83 of UNGA Resolution 61/105 (UNGA 2006), there is no definitive list of specific taxa or areas that are to be regarded as VMEs. In the context of VMEs, vulnerability is related to the likelihood that a population, community, or habitat will be substantially altered by fishing activities, and the timing of recovery from fishing-related impacts (NPFC 2019, 2021a). As noted in CMMs 2019-05 (NPFC 2021a) and 2021-06 (NPFC 2019), "*in these ecosystems, ecological processes are usually highly dependent on these structured systems. Further, such ecosystems often have high diversity, which is dependent on the structuring organisms.*"

Balancing the objectives of protecting VMEs while minimizing impacts to commercial bottom fisheries

We recognize that there is a delicate balance between the NPFC's mandate to identify and protect VMEs and areas likely to be VMEs, and the desire of many stakeholders to minimize costs to commercial bottom fisheries. One approach to balancing these two objectives was outlined by Warawa et al. (2020) who applied a spatial optimization approach to identify VME areas for protection from SAIs that was modelled after the South Pacific Regional Fisheries Management Organization's (SPRFMO) application of Zonation software, a publicly available decision support tool used for spatial conservation planning. Warawa et al. (2020) recognized that catch, visual (video and/or photos), and other types of data, including outputs from predictive models, may also be used to identify VMEs. In that context, in the process of identifying VMEs and areas likely to be VMEs we recognize the role of uncertainties in balancing objectives. Therefore, we propose a methodology to identify VMEs and areas likely to be VMEs that addresses uncertainties associated with limited data in the NPFC's CA. We use the best available data for meeting our objectives of identifying VMEs, while minimizing impacts to the NPFC's bottom fisheries and propose a quantitative and repeatable method that can be easily updated when new information becomes available.

Seamounts in the North Pacific Ocean

As defined by the International Hydrographic Organization (IHO 2019), a seamount is "A distinct, generally equidimensional [i.e., conical-shaped] elevation greater than 1000 m above the surrounding relief as measured from the deepest isobaths that surrounds most of the feature". As a consequence of their global distribution and the concentration of sensitive benthic ecosystems and fishing pressure that occur at seamounts, several RMFOs have prioritized seamounts in efforts to protect VMEs (Clark et al. 2010). Identifying VMEs at seamounts requires quantifying the ecological functions and services characterized by their biological communities (Clark et al. 2010). Many seamounts can harbour dense assemblages of cold-water corals and sponges (CWCS).

What are VME indicator taxa?

The FAO Guidelines (FAO 2009) provide examples of potential vulnerable species groups,

communities, and habitats as well as features that potentially support them (see Annex 2.1 of CMM 2019-05 and 2021-06 (NPFC 2019, 2021a). The NPFC currently recognizes four taxonomic groups of corals (Alcyonacea (excluding Gorgonians), Antipatharia, Gorgonacea (now within the Alcyonacea), and Scleractinia) as VME indicator taxa (NPFC 2019, 2021a). Other regional fisheries management organizations (RFMOs) recognize additional groups of CWCS as indicators of VMEs (FAO 2019), including sea pens (order Pennatulacea) and glass sponges (class Hexactinellida). In this working paper, we focus our analyses on the four groups of corals recognized by the NPFC as VME indicator taxa.

Structural complexity formed by VME indicator taxa

Structural complexity is one of the FAO's five criteria to identify VMEs (FAO 2009). Acting as biogenic habitat, CWCS increases structural complexity on the seafloor which in turn enhances biodiversity and the abundance of other animals in an area (Rowden et al. 2020). The capacity to form structural complexity (i.e., biogenic habitat) is a key biological trait associated with using CWCS as the umbrella taxa (i.e., "*species whose conservation confers a protective umbrella to numerous co-occurring species*", Fleishman et al. 2000) for delineating areas that are VMEs. Additional life history traits of CWCS, such as slow growth, long life spans, and rarity of occurrence, make them vulnerable to physical disturbance caused by bottom fishing activities. Thus, identifying areas of habitat-forming CWCS communities serves to meet the criteria used for identifying sites as VMEs (Chu et al. 2019; see also the five VME criteria identified in FAO 2009).

Approaches applied to identifying VMEs

While criteria are available for identifying VMEs (e.g. FAO 2009), there are few case-specific definitions of VMEs and areas likely to be VMEs. Ardron et al. (2014) drew on a review of existing approaches to develop a 10-step systematic approach for identifying and protecting VMEs. Specifically, these are:

"(1) Comparatively assess potential VME indicator taxa and habitats in a region

(2) determine VME thresholds

(3) consider areas already known for their ecological importance

(4) compile information on the distributions of likely VME taxa and habitats, as well as related environmental data

(5) develop predictive distribution models for VME indicator taxa and habitats

(6) compile known or likely fishing impacts

- (7) produce a predicted VME naturalness distribution (areas of low cumulative impacts)
- (8) identify areas of higher value to user groups
- (9) conduct management strategy evaluations to produce trade-off scenarios, and
- (10) review and re-iterate, until spatial management scenarios are developed that fulfil

international obligations and regional conservation and management objectives"

Many approaches to identifying VMEs rely on using qualitative information and expert judgement, which can be inconsistent and lack transparency (Morato et al. 2018). Morato et al. (2018) emphasize that it would be advantageous for analysts to develop robust and repeatable quantitative methods to identify VMEs. At least three quantitative and repeatable approaches have been applied since Ardron et al. (2014). Those approaches draw on catches from scientific surveys, existing data on the distribution of VME indicator taxa, and/or visual data from scientific surveys of benthic organisms.

Based on FAO's criteria for identifying VMEs (FAO 2009), Kenchington et al. (2014) used a kernel density estimation (KDE) approach to analyze research trawl survey data and identify areas of relatively high biomass of four VME indicator taxa (large-sized sponges, sea pens, and small and large gorgonians) in the Northwest Atlantic Fisheries Organization (NAFO) Regulatory Area. Using KDE they identified significant concentrations of VME indicator biomass, which they interpreted as VMEs. They also independently assessed the VMEs they identified with images, benthic sampling, and/or predictive models.

In the NW part of the NPFC CA, Japan recently used seafloor images, fisheries bycatch data, research surveys, and a KDE method to map concentrations of fishing effort and areas of overlap between the distribution of VME indicator taxa and fishing activities (Miyamoto & Yonezaki 2019). They then visually surveyed areas that were potential VMEs and qualitatively assessed those areas relative to the five FAO criteria for identification of VMEs (FAO 2009).

In the NE Atlantic Ocean, Morato et al. (2018) used a spatial and quantitative method to identify VMEs by applying a multi-criteria assessment to a database of VME records compiled by the International Council for the Exploration of the Sea (ICES).

Rowden et al. (2020) noted that many quantitative approaches to identification of VMEs focused on predicting the distribution of VME indicator taxa, however, they also recognized that the presence of one or more VME indicator taxa does not necessarily mean that a VME is present. They proposed a quantitative approach to determine a density threshold of VME indicator taxa above which a VME was present in the SPRFMO area, drawing on FAO's VME criterion of structural complexity (FAO 2009). Specifically, Rowden et al. (2020) analyzed video and still images to identify areas where corals support a high diversity of associated taxa. They found significant relationships between coral density and the richness of associated benthic organisms and suggested that a density threshold could be used in combination with predictive models to map areas where the density of VME indicators was equal to or greater

than that threshold and were therefore VMEs at risk of SAIs. Rowden et al. (2020) also emphasized the value of thresholds to make the identification of VMEs less subjective. They hypothesized that the thresholds used to identify VMEs would likely vary among regions. Indeed, the types of thresholds that can be used to identify VMEs depend on available data to map VMEs or areas that are likely to be VMEs.

Data limitations for identification of VMEs in the Northeast Pacific Ocean

Three of the quantitative approaches described above (Kenchington et al. 2014, Morato et al. 2018, Rowden et al. 2020) require data on the abundance or density of CWCS sampled over the general study area to identify VMEs and areas that are likely to be VMEs. There are many records of bycatch of CWCS in research trawls in the NAFO Regulatory Area, which has allowed individual VME indicator taxa to be used for identifying VMEs using a KDE approach in the NW Atlantic Ocean (Kenchington et al. 2014). The ICES database used by Morato et al. (2018) also contained thousands of records of CWCS from many sources that can be used to identify VME indicator taxa distributions and areas that are likely to be VMEs. Similarly, there has been a significant effort in the SPRFMO CA to identify and accumulate VME records from fisheries bycatch and conduct directed research surveys that can be used to determine VME thresholds and the distribution of VME indicator taxa (Rowden et al. 2020).

In the NPFC's CA there is limited CWCS abundance data available. Most of the existing CWCS abundance data in the NPFC CA are from fisheries bycatch and research surveys in the NW region of the North Pacific Ocean (Miyamoto & Yonezaki 2019, Dautova et al. 2020, Calder & Watling 2021).

Due to the limited availability of abundance data in the NE region of the NPFC's CA, we are unable to fully apply one or more of the approaches outlined above. The majority of CWCS data available in the NE Pacific Ocean are research trawl data and visual survey data that almost entirely fall within domestic waters of Canada and the United States of America. The only bottom fishery operating in the NE part of the NPFC CA is Canada's Sablefish fishery at seamounts (primarily on Brown Bear, Cobb, Corn, Eickelberg, and Warwick Seamounts). Canada has extensive data on the location and catches in the Sablefish fishery since 1996. Canada's Sablefish fishery is conducted with long-lined traps or hook and line gear, which typically do not retain VME indicator taxa, thus there are insufficient records of CWCS bycatch available for this region that might support an analysis such as KDE (as in Kenchington et al. 2014). In addition, relatively few seamounts have been visually surveyed in the NE part of the NPFC CA (but see Curtis et al. 2015), and even few visual surveys have been sufficiently annotated to document the distribution, richness, or density of VME indicator taxa or associated benthic species. Although habitat suitability of the NPFC's VME indicator taxa has been

predicted (Chu et al. 2019), there are insufficient data to predict the density or abundance of those same VME indicator taxa. Therefore, the scarcity of visual survey data coupled with the inability to predict VME indicator density or abundance in the NE part of the NPFC's CA, limits application of the threshold method described by Rowden et al. (2020).

A quantitative method for identifying VMEs in the NE Pacific Ocean using predictive models and visual surveys

Our proposed approach uses the best scientific information following the decision tree recommended by the NPFC's SWG on VME to identify data for VME identification in the NW and NE parts of the NPFC CA (NPFC 2021b) (Figure 1). We propose a quantitative approach similar to Rowden et al. (2020) by first resolving the non-linear, threshold relationship between species richness (dependent variable) associated with the presence of the four NPFC VME indicator taxa (independent variable) in visual survey data. Due to differences in the type of available data, we quantified the threshold of the independent variable as the frequency of occurrence of VME indicator taxa rather than the density of VME indicator taxa used in Rowden et al. (2020). This threshold quantifies the minimum frequency of occurrence of VME indicator taxa where richness of associated epibenthic species is at a maximum in visual data. We then use predictive habitat models (PHMs) to generate maps of suitable habitat for each VME indicator taxon. We examine areas where the predictions are equal to or greater than our quantitative threshold to identify areas likely to be VMEs. Finally, we identify VMEs as areas where both the predictions and visual survey data are in confirmation. Our general application of PHMs can be used to assess all seamounts in the NPFC's CA to preliminarily identify areas that are likely to be VMEs. Targeted visual surveys can then be used to groundtruth high priority areas identified in the PHMs to confirm VME areas.



Figure 1. Decision tree used to identify data that can be used to identify VMEs in the NW and NE parts of the NPFC Convention Area (NPFC 2021b) and how it relates to our proposed approach in this working paper. The primary steps in our approach are highlighted (Steps 1-5) in this figure and are described in the methods section of this working paper.

A case study of our proposed approach on Cobb Seamount

We use data collected during a scientific visual survey of Cobb Seamount in 2012 to illustrate our quantitative method for identifying VMEs and areas likely to be VMEs on seamounts in the NE Pacific Ocean. At present, Cobb Seamount is the only seamount in the NPFC CA that has been visually surveyed by Canada. Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO) and the United States National Oceanographic and Atmospheric Agency (NOAA) led a joint survey of the seamount in 2012 (Curtis et al. 2015). The survey characterized the benthic community structure and quantified the distribution of observed VME indicator taxa. 17 of the coral taxa observed were on the NPFC's list of VME indicator taxa (Curtis et al. 2015).

METHODS

VME indicator taxa

We use the four groups of corals recognized by NPFC as VME indicator taxa for identifying areas that are VMEs and likely to be VMEs in the NE part of the NPFC CA; the orders Antipatharia (black corals), Scleractinia (stony corals), and Alcyonacea (soft corals and gorgonian corals). The NPFC recognizes gorgonian and soft corals as separate groups and they

can be split into taxonomically valid groups using a family level of identification. For the North Pacific Ocean, Miyamoto et al. (2017) list gorgonian coral families as Anthothelidae, Paragorgiidae, Corallididae, Keroeididae, Acanthogorgiidae, Plexauridae, Gorgoniidae, Chrysogorgiidae, Primnoidae, and Isididae and non-gorgonian soft-coral families as Clavulariidae, Alcyoniidae, Nephtheidae, Nidaliidae, and Paralcyoniidae.

Study area

We apply our proposed method as a case study to identify VMEs and areas likely to be VMEs on Cobb Seamount, which is in the NE part of the NPFC CA, close to Canada's domestic waters at 46° 44′ 24″ N, 130° 48′ 0″ W (Figure 2). Cobb Seamount is a 27 million year old symmetrical and terraced guyot with a centrally located pinnacle (Budinger 1967) that rises from a base of 2,743 m to within 24 m of the surface (Parker & Tunnicliffe 1994), with an area of approximately 824 km² (Budinger 1967). The seamount flanks average 12° in slope and are marked by four terraces (Budinger 1967). Cobb Seamount was discovered in 1950 and has been the site of biological, geological, and oceanographic research, as well as several commercial fisheries, including sablefish (*A. fimbria*). The history of Cobb Seamount and details of the methodology and data collected during a scientific visual survey led jointly by DFO and NOAA in 2012 are described in Curtis et al. (2015) and Du Preez et al. (2015).

The primary aim of the scientific survey in 2012 was to characterize the benthic community structure. In summary, DFO used a customized Deep Ocean Engineering Phantom remotely operated vehicle (ROV) capable of diving to approximately 220 m, and NOAA deployed a SeaBED-class autonomous underwater vehicle (AUV) capable of diving to 1,400 m. Curtis et al. (2015) describe the survey, including specifics of the submersible setups, cameras, deployments, and sampling design, and Du Preez et al. (2015) provide a photo-documented checklist of species observed at Cobb Seamount in 2012.

Overall, 144 benthic taxa were observed from 12 DFO ROV and 4 NOAA AUV transects carried out from 34 m to 1,154 m in depth. The taxa with the greatest densities on the Cobb Seamount plateau (<225 m depth) included the stony coral *Desmophyllum dianthus*, the brachiopod *Laqueus californianus*, colonies of *Stylaster* spp. hydrocorals, and annelids. At greater depths (>435 m) on the AUV transects, a bamboo coral *Lepidisis* sp., the black corals *Bathypathes* sp. and *Lillipathes* cf *lillei*, and an unidentified black coral species (Antipatharia sp. 1, as described in Du Preez et al. 2015), were among the more abundant taxa. Sand, boulders and creviced rock habitats were more prevalent on Cobb Seamount's plateau, with creviced bedrock being more common at depths >435 m.

Video from the DFO ROV's cameras was recorded continuously throughout 12 dives, from the

time of deployment to retrieval. Cameras on the AUV were configured to produce orthogonal images of the seafloor. The AUV was programmed to maintain a height of approximately 3 m above the seafloor and was programmed to take a photograph every 10 seconds during survey transects. Overall, 8,321 photos were collected along the four AUV transects, most of which were of sufficient quality to quantitatively record species and habitat data. All photos from the AUV's port side camera were annotated to document the occurrences of discernable taxa, with the exception of brittle stars (Curtis et al. 2015).



Figure 2. Study area showing the NE part of the NPFC Convention Area (dashed line boundary) and location of Cobb Seamount (inset map).

General approach to identifying VMEs

The main steps in our quantitative approach (Figure 3) are: 1) identify a quantitative threshold that indicates where VMEs are likely to occur; 2) develop predictive models and generate probability maps of suitable habitat for VME indicator taxa; 3) apply the threshold to the probability maps to identify areas likely to be VMEs, 4) prioritize those areas for gathering visual data; and 5) combine the predictive models, visual data, and other available scientific information to determine if the VME criteria (FAO 2009) are met.



Figure 3. General steps in our proposed method to identifying VMEs and areas likely to be VMEs.

Step 1. Identify a quantitative threshold for VME occurrence

The objective of our threshold analysis is to identify the proportion of transect where VME indicator taxa occur (independent or explanatory variable on the x-axis) that corresponds to the greatest richness of associated benthic taxa (dependent or response variable on the y-axis). We assume that areas with greater species richness are also areas with a greater diversity of microhabitat types and thus structural complexity provided by VME indicator taxa presence, one of FAO's five criteria for identifying VMEs (FAO 2009). We used the proportion of transect where NPFC VME indicator taxa occur as our threshold variable so it can be applied to the output of our predictive habitat models (PHMs) that predict the probability of suitable habitat of the four VME indicator taxa, as well as observations of those VME indicator taxa in our visual data (Curtis et al. 2015). Hereafter, we refer to the threshold calculated from the visual survey data as the "visual occurrence threshold", which is defined at the proportion of transect where one or more VME indicator taxa occur.

Data requirements for visual occurrence threshold

The visual occurrence threshold is based on the relationship between the proportion of transect where VME indicator taxa occur (independent variable) and the species richness of associated benthic taxa (dependent variable). This generally requires data to be collected at a site where NPFC VME indicator taxa are present in varying abundances, and where the presence of associated taxa has been annotated. When different sources of visual data are available the collection methods should be compared to ensure there are no detection biases and that biodiversity data can be pooled.

Visual occurrence threshold analysis

For our case study, we used the fully annotated dataset generated from the analysis of AUV photos collected at Cobb Seamount in 2012 (Curtis et al. 2015). Although ROV photos and video records were also collected during that survey, the ROV survey was designed to capture close-up imagery at the seafloor (a 0.16 m^2 area compared to the $1.8 \text{ m}^2 - 21.2 \text{ m}^2$ area of the AUV images) and did not reliably capture VME indicator taxa for annotation (Cobb et al. 2015). Due to detection biases among different survey methods, biodiversity annotations generated from the resulting imagery should not be pooled for analyses (Chu & Leys 2010). Thus, we did not use visual data from the ROV in our analyses.

We subdivided the four AUV transects (average length = 1,806 m) into 50 m sub-transect segments for the threshold analysis and followed general methods outlined in Rowden et al. (2020). Sub-transect segments were included in our analyses if they contained 3 or more images.

For each sub-transect segment (n=136), we calculated the proportion of that segment where any VME indicator taxon was observed by dividing the number of images with a VME indicator taxon present by the total number of images in that segment. The proportion of transect where VME indicator taxa occur (the visual occurrence threshold) was calculated as:

proportion of transect where VME indicator taxa occur = # of images with VME indicator taxa per sub-transect # of images per sub-transect

We used a piecewise regression to identify the breakpoint, or threshold, in the proportion of transect where one or more VME indicator taxa occurred (independent variable) as a predictor of the richness of associated taxa (dependent variable). A piecewise regression, also known as segmented or broken-stick regression, fits two linear regressions through a dataset and identifies a breakpoint at the intersection between the two regressions. We use this breakpoint as the threshold at which the richness of associated taxa reaches a plateau beyond which increasing the proportion of transects where at least one VME indicator taxa occurred no longer corresponds to higher biodiversity (see discussion in Rowden et al. 2020). To account for uncertainty due to our limited data we used the upper 99 % CI as our final threshold to identify

VMEs and areas likely to be VMEs. To determine if our data follow a threshold response and not a simple linear response, we used an ANOVA to compare the piecewise regression and linear regression.

Step 2. Develop predictive models for VME indicator taxa

Predictive habitat models (PHMs), also referred to as species distribution models, can be used to predict areas of high habitat suitability for marine species of interest. In general, PHMs are statistical methods that relate known presences of a species to a set of environmental variables. Models can then be used to extrapolate where species are likely to occur within the extent of the environmental variables, including in areas where biological survey data are lacking (Franklin 2010). Model outputs can also be used to generate hypotheses about the factors that influence species distributions, such as key environmental drivers, which can help identify priority areas for future data collection. Prediction maps generated from a standard PHM are usually presented as a logistic index with values ranging from 0 to 1. Depending on the model and data used, the logistic index is commonly interpreted as a probability of presence or as an index of habitat suitability. We interpret the output of our four models as the probability that there is suitable habitat for the corresponding VME indicator taxon and we assume that the taxa can exist where there is suitable habitat.

Data requirements for PHMs

PHM development requires a dataset of georeferenced species presences as well as gridded environmental data layers representing variables that influence the distribution of the modeled species. In addition, data on species absences – areas where a species has been observed to not exist – can also be valuable. The environmental data should cover the entire extent of the area of interest, and the species presence/absence data should ideally be broadly distributed across the spatial and environmental gradients in the same area.

For our study, we use the Maximum Entropy model (MaxEnt) to develop PHMs for each of our four VME indicator taxa. MaxEnt is a machine learning, statistical method that originated in the fields of statistical mechanics and information theory (Phillips et al. 2006). MaxEnt has also been the most commonly applied PHM for examining distributions of CWCS when only presence data are available which is most often the case for deep-sea taxa (Winship et al. 2020). By default, MaxEnt uses 'pseudo-absences' sampled from the surrounding background area to generalize the habitat conditions of an area; presence is unknown at the location of these background sampled locations. Although MaxEnt is known as a 'presence-only' model by

default, absence data, instead of 'pseudo-absences', can be used with the MaxEnt algorithm. For our PHMs both presence and absence observations were sampled mostly within the adjacent exclusive economic zones of Canada and the United States of America. The availability of presence and absence observations of VME indicator taxa allows for the exploration of alternative models (e.g. GAM, Boosted Regression Trees, Random Forest models) in future iterations of PHM development.

Species records

<u>Presence records</u> – We compiled a large dataset of georeferenced species records of NPFC's VME indicator taxa in the NE Pacific Ocean (Figure 4a). Records were queried as of September 2021 and come from scientific surveys data and museum records deposited in (1) the NOAA deep-sea coral data portal (<u>https://deepseacoraldata.noaa.gov/</u>), (2) standardized bottom trawl catch data from research surveys in the Gulf of Alaska, Aleutian Islands and eastern Bering Sea, (3) standardized bottom trawl catch data from DFO research surveys in British Columbia, Canada, and (4) standardized bottom trawl catch data from research surveys on the U.S. West Coast of Washington Oregon and California (Stauffer 2004, Nottingham et al. 2018).

Records were identified to various levels of taxonomy and required up-to-date taxonomy verification with the World Register of Marine Species (WoRMS, Horton et al. 2021). After updated taxonomy was appended to the records, records with at least an order (black corals, stony corals) or family (gorgonian corals, non-gorgonian soft corals) level of identification were pooled for use as the presence data for each of their respective PHMs. Final sets of presence records used for PHM model development were also spatially restricted to those occurring within the four marine ecoregions of the world (MEOW) that characterize the oceanographic conditions from the Gulf of Alaska to the West Coast of North America (Spalding et al. 2007). No commercial bycatch records were included in the data used for PHMs.

<u>Absence records</u> – Multiple depth-stratified research trawl surveys record the occurrence of all species captured over the latitudinal extent of our study area. We generated absence records (Figure 4b) from the fishing events that did not yield a species corresponding to our VME indicator taxa (e.g. Beazley et al. 2018, Chu et al. 2019). Because the trawl surveys occurred only on the continental shelf and slope, there is a sampling bias in location of the absence records relative to the presence records which include observations of VME indicator taxa at several offshore seamounts. With the exception of visual data from Cobb Seamount (Curtis et al. 2015), we prioritized keeping as many of these rare seamount observations in our models as possible and addressed this sampling bias by restricting the inclusion of offshore presence records which the sampling depth range of the absence records which

sampled a maximum depth of 1,600 m.



Figure 4. Species occurrence data used in PHM models. (a) Distribution of VME indicator taxa presence records and (b) Distribution of trawl absence data. Records were geographically limited to those occurring within four marine ecoregions and the adjacent international waters (Spalding et al., 2007). Seamount areas are from Harris et al. (2014). Note that the four groups of VME indicator taxa are plotted in panel (a) but are not visible because of the overlapping points.

Environmental data layers

We used the gridded environmental data from Chu et al. (2019) developed by the North Pacific Marine Science Organization (PICES) Working Group 32 on Biodiversity of Biogenic Habitats, which were created for the development of PHMs for the North Pacific Ocean (Chu et al. 2019, 2020). This set of 30 environmental layers are gridded at a 1 km² resolution and include bathymetry-derived variables, physiochemical variables, and oceanographic properties that can be strong predictors of benthic species distributions. Please refer to Table 1 in Annex 1 for a summary of details, resolutions, and units associated with the environmental data layers. Davies and Guinotte (2011), Chu et al. (2019), and Georgian et al. (2021) provide general background on the data layers, original data sources, processing steps involved in their creation, and examples of their general use in PHM development for VME indicator taxa and identifying VMEs in the Pacific Ocean.

MaxEnt modeling settings

We followed the general MaxEnt model workflow described by Chu et al. (2019) and developed a PHM for each of the four VME indicator taxa. Species data were spatially thinned

to include only one record per 1 km² grid cell. We applied several best practices to test initial models and to prevent general overfitting (e.g. Merow et al. 2013, ICES 2021). Collinearity among predictors was addressed by examining variance inflation factors (VIF) and iteratively reducing the set of environmental data layers used for each model until the final subset of variables all had VIF < 10 (Table 1). Model performance was assessed using the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC) (AUC, Phillips et al. 2006). AUC values of 1.0 indicate a model that can perfectly predict presence and absences and 0.5 indicates a model that performs no better than random. We tested a range of MaxEnt regularization coefficient values (to balance model overfitting, see Merow et al. 2013) and set the value to 1.0 which yielded models with the highest AUC. We used five-fold cross validation to assess how well each model performed. Occurrence (presence and absence) data was randomly sampled and split into five equal data partitions and models were trained on four partitions and tested with the remaining fold; this procedure was repeated five times with a unique partition used for testing in each iteration. Final models used the entire set of species presences and absences from each taxon to generate maps of presence probability.

Table 1. Input data used in MaxEnt models: Number of 1 km² gridded presence and absence records, and the subset of environmental data layers used as predictors. BPI is the Bathymetric Position Index at the corresponding scale in metres, PAR is the Photosynthetically Active Radiation, and SST is Sea Surface Temperature. Table 1 in Annex 1 provides details on the full set of environmental variables considered for use in PHM development.

VME taxa	Presence	Absence	Environmental variables included in final model
	records	records	
Black corals	497	22,145	Chlorophyl-a, cross-sectional curvature, current angle, current aspect, current direction,
			east-facing aspect, north-facing aspect, oxygen, PAR, particulate organic carbon, regional
			current velocity, slope, SST, BPI20000, vertical flow velocity, roughness
Stony corals	291	22,145	Omega Aragonite, Chlorophyl-a, cross-sectional curvature, current aspect, current
			direction, east-facing aspect, north-facing aspect, oxygen, PAR, particulate organic
			carbon, regional current velocity, slope, SST, BPI20000, roughness
Gorgonian corals	1,378	22,145	Omega Aragonite, Chlorophyl-a, current direction, east-facing aspect, north-facing
			aspect, oxygen, PAR, particulate organic carbon, regional current velocity, slope, SST,
			BPI5000, BPI20000, roughness
Non-gorgonian	611	22,145	Omega Aragonite, Chlorophyl-a, cross-sectional curvature, current direction, current
soft corals			angle, east-facing aspect, north-facing aspect, oxygen, PAR, regional current velocity,
			slope, SST, BPI20000, roughness

Spatial uncertainty in the model predictions

To examine spatially-explicit measures of uncertainty in the model predictions, we applied a non-parametric, bootstrap resampling procedure before running the final models for each of the four VME indicator taxa (e.g. Anderson et al. 2017, Rowden et al. 2017, Chu et al. 2019). For a model's occurrence dataset, observations were randomly sampled with replacement to match the ratio of presence and absence records respective to their model (Table 1); each bootstrapped random sample was used to generate a model prediction. This process was done n=100 times which allowed a mean and standard deviation (SD) to be calculated among model runs where areas with high SD indicated higher uncertainty associated with model predictions. For each grid cell, we calculated a confidence interval (CI) using the mean and SD generated from the 100 model runs. We use 99% CI values for our steps where we applied the visual occurrence threshold to the mapped prediction.

Validating the model predictions with the visual survey data

We use the independent visual survey data from Curtis et al. (2015) to test how well the models perform when compared to an independent dataset. We use AUC as a metric of general performance but calculate additional metrics. Percent correctly classified (PCC) is the proportion of the visual data correctly classified into presence and absence categories. Sensitivity calculates the proportion of the visual data presence records that were correctly classified. Specificity calculates the proportion of the visual absence records that were correctly classified. For PCC, sensitivity, and specificity to be calculated, the logistic predictions need to be converted into binary presence-absence values. Therefore, we examined ROC plots (ANNEX 1, Figure 1) and used a value that maximizes sensitivity and specificity for the binary conversion.

Step 3. Determine areas likely to be VMEs

We use model predictions to determine areas likely to be VMEs, following the decision tree in Figure 1 (NPFC 2021b). We apply the visual occurrence threshold to the mean of the four NPFC VME indicator taxa PHMs to quantitatively determine which areas meet the criterion of being likely to be a VME. Areas where the PHM value is equal to or greater than the visual occurrence threshold are identified as areas likely to be VMEs.

The aerial extent of areas likely to be VMEs in our analyses is 1 km² because the environmental variables used to produce the PHM predictions were gridded at a resolution of 1 km² (Chu et al. 2019). Based on these methods areas likely to be VMEs will be defined as areas where the mean of the four VME indicator taxa predicted model values is equal to or greater than the

visual occurrence threshold.

Step 4. Use supporting visual data in areas likely to be VMEs

Following the NPFC decision tree on identifying data for VMEs (Figure 1), areas that are likely to be VMEs become high priority areas to undertake visual surveys. If visual data do not exist or cannot be collected, then an area cannot be confirmed to be a VME. To illustrate our proposed methodology, we use the visual data collected at Cobb Seamount in 2012 by Curtis et al. (2015).

Step 5. Determine if VME criteria are met

The criterion used to identify VMEs in our approach is when the proportion of a transect where one or more VME indicator taxa occur in the visual data is equal to or greater than the visual occurrence threshold, and thus meets the FAO criterion of structural complexity (FAO 2009).

We first segmented the visual data into 50 m sub-transects. Then we calculated the proportion of those segments where VME indicator taxa were present using the equation in step 1. In the absence of comprehensive visual data to delineate the areal extent of the VME, this step in our methodology uses the same resolution (1 km²) as that used to identify areas that are likely to be VMEs in Step 3. If one or more segments of the transect within a 1 km² area was equal to or greater than the visual occurrence threshold, then a VME was identified for that 1 km² area. Applying the visual occurrence threshold in this manner is similar to our method of identifying areas likely to be VMEs but uses visual data instead of the PHMs' predicted values.

RESULTS & DISCUSSION

The primary goal of this working paper is to propose and receive feedback on our approach before applying it to identify VMEs and areas that are likely to be VMEs in the NE part of the NPFC's CA. We propose one quantitative method of VME identification that integrates model predictions and visual data in a manner that aligns with the SWG VME's framework, the precautionary approach, the Convention, and the research plan of NPFC's Scientific Committee. We recognize that other methods have (e.g. Miyamoto & Yonezaki 2019) and will be applied to identify VMEs in the NPFC's CA. Our approach factors in the data limitations in this region which dictates how available visual data can be analyzed for identifying and modelling VME areas in the NE part of NPFC's CA where Canada fishes for sablefish (*A. fimbria*).

We use data from Cobb Seamount to illustrate an initial application of our methodology which

identifies 1 km² areas that are likely to be VMEs at depths ranging from 18 m to 1,573 m, and one VME on the northwest part of Cobb Seamount. With future iteration of our approach through peer review and feedback, we aim to identify VMEs and areas that are likely to be VMEs in the NE part of the NPFC's CA during the coming years.

General approach to identifying VMEs

Step 1. Identify a quantitative threshold for VME occurrence

Visual occurrence of VME indicator taxa was calculated for 50 m divisions of the AUV transects on Cobb Seamount (n=136). Associated species richness ranged from 1 to 19 and the proportion of transect where VME taxa occurred ranged from 0 to 1, where 1 indicated at least one of the four VME indicator taxa was present in all images for that transect segment (Figure 5). All four VME indicator taxa were represented in the AUV data (see Table 4 in Annex 3 for a list of observed VME taxa).

A general comparison of model fit showed the piecewise regression ($R^2=0.19$, AUC=678.35) fit our data better than a linear regression ($R^2=0.13$, AUC=686.54) which indicates a threshold relationship occurring in our data. A break point was resolved for associated species richness where the proportion of transect where one or more VME indicator taxa occurred was 0.7 (99% CI range of 0.54-0.86) from the piecewise regression (Figure 5).

We use the upper 99% CI value of the visual occurrence threshold, which is 0.86, in the following methods to account for uncertainty in the threshold analysis. See Annex 2 for alternative results using a visual occurrence threshold of 0.7.

We expect that the relationship between the amount of structurally complex habitat, which we estimate using the proportion of transect where the NPFC's VME indicator taxa occur, and the associated species richness increases steeply until the number of species that can be supported by the complex habitat begins to reach a threshold and then plateaus (as discussed in Rowden et al. 2020).



Figure 5. Proportion of transect where the NPFC's VME indicator taxa occur vs associated species richness from Cobb Seamount AUV transects divided into 50 m segments. A comparison of anova tables between piecewise (red, $R^2 = 0.193$) and a linear regression (blue, R^2 =0.131) models fitted to the data indicates a significant breakpoint occurs at 0.7 (p <0.05).

Step 2. Develop predictive models for VME indicator taxa

All MaxEnt models developed using presence-absence data performed well with AUC scores ranging from 0.86-0.91 among modelled taxa (Table 2). The most important predictors varied slightly among models but all shared dissolved oxygen among their top two ranked predictors. Additional importance predictors included water column properties associated with surface water conditions (photosynthetically active radiation, particulate organic carbon, sea surface temperature, chlorophyll-A), seafloor characteristics (roughness), and broad scale currents (regional current velocity). The slight differences among the most important predictors also resulted in differences in the general footprint of areas predicted to have a high habitat suitability varied among models (Figure 6, Figure 1 in Annex 1). However, shared areas of high habitat suitability among models were generally concentrated along the continental shelf in domestic waters and mostly at seamount areas within the international waters of the NPFC CA (Figure 6). These results mirror those of Chu et al. (2019) who used a similar PHM approach but focused within a smaller study area inside Canadian domestic waters. The complimentary findings reinforce the importance of the expansive oxygen minimum zone in the Northeast Pacific ocean and its influence on the distribution of VME indicator taxa in this region.

Table 2. Summary of final MaxEnt model parameters. Training AUC and the top three most important predictor variables based on their relative importance in each model are presented. Values are the mean among the 100 bootstrap resampling model runs that used the entire occurrence dataset. Variable acronyms: PAR – photosynthetically active radiation, POC – particulate organic carbon, BPI20000 – bathymetric position index at a 20,000 m scale, Regfl – Regional current velocity. Chl-a – Chlorophyl-A. SST – Sea Surface Temperature. The full ranked list of variable importance is provided in Table 2 of Annex 1.

VME group	Training	1 st ranked	2 nd ranked	3 rd ranked
	AUC			
Black corals	0.90	Oxygen (48%)	PAR (19%)	Regfl (7%)
Stony corals	0.90	Oxygen (14%)	Chl-A (13%)	SST (13%)
Gorgonian corals	0.85	PAR (37%)	Oxygen (16%)	BPI20000 (11%)
Non-gorgonian soft corals	0.92	Roughness (36%)	Oxygen (16%)	POC (8%)



Figure 6. MaxEnt predictions of habitat suitability index (HSI) for the four NPFC VME indicator taxa in the NE Pacific Ocean. The majority of high habitat suitability areas in the NPFC CA (boundary indicated by dash line) occur at seamounts. Model predictions have been restricted to the maximum depth of 1,600 m reflected in the species data.

Transect lines from the visual surveys intersected with only 13 grid cells in the PHM predictions which limits the extent at which PHM performance can be tested with the available

independent data. Results are still informative and illustrate the process of validation with independent visual survey data. Performance varied among models with stony corals and gorgonian corals performing better than those for black corals and non-gorgonian soft corals (Table 3). However, single classification errors currently have a relatively large influence on validation testing because of their relative proportion to the sample size (n=13). Additional factors such as differences in detectability and catchability between the data used to train the PHMs (acquired mostly from trawl surveys) and the visual survey data could influence model validation. Ideally, additional data could be acquired from visual surveys designed using the model predictions that would allow a more comprehensive validation of model performance.

Identifying areas that are likely to be VMEs using PHMs will be strongly influenced by the taxa being modelled. Although our PHM models performed well, the NPFC's VME indicator taxa groups (black corals, stony corals, gorgonians and non-gorgonian soft corals) are taxonomically broad and capture a wider range of habitat conditions than what species-specific PHMs would resolve. Ideally, we would develop PHMs for taxa at lower taxonomic levels (e.g. species or family) which could reduce the amount of species-specific habitat requirements being pooled into a single model. This could improve how well our PHMs predict the occurrence of VME indicator taxa, which were identified to lower taxonomic levels in the visual data collected by Curtis et al. (2015) (see Annex 3).

Table 3. Model performance statistics when tested with the visual survey data. AUC is the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve. Test AUC is the average AUC among the five folds of data used for internal model cross validation. Training AUC is the average of the 100 bootstrapped model runs used to generate the final model predictions. Validation AUC is calculated using the independent visual survey data to test the average prediction from the 100 bootstrap model runs. Additional validation metrics presented are: PCC which is the percentage of the observations that were correctly classified (n=13), sensitivity is the proportion of true positives correctly classified by a model, and specificity is the proportion of true absences correctly classified.

Model	Test	Training	Validation	PCC	Sensitivity	Specificity
	AUC	AUC	AUC			
Black corals	0.88	0.90	0.53	0.54	0.5	0.67
Stony corals	0.87	0.92	0.92	0.92	1	0.92
Gorgonian corals	0.86	0.85	0.82	0.62	0.64	0.5
Non-gorgonian soft corals	0.91	0.92	0.67	0.77	0.89	0.5

Step 3. Determine areas likely to be VMEs

Areas that are likely to be VMEs in the NE Pacific region of the NPFC CA occur almost exclusively at seamounts covering a total area of 3,137 km² (Figure 7).

On Cobb Seamount, a total of 83 1-km² grid cells were identified as areas likely to be VMEs (Figure 8), resulting in a total area of 83 km². The depth range for this area is from the pinnacle of Cobb at 18 m to 1,573 m.



Figure 7. Areas likely to be VMEs in the Eastern North Pacific based on the mean VME indicator taxa predicted model value meeting or exceeding the visual occurrence threshold of 0.86. Seamount areas are from Harris et al. (2014). Note – only PHM predictions that meet or exceed the threshold in the NPFC CA (international waters) are shown.



Figure 8. Areas likely to be VMEs on Cobb Seamount based on the mean VME indicator taxa predicted model value meeting or exceeding the visual occurrence threshold of 0.86.

Step 4. Gather supporting visual data in areas likely to be VMEs

Visual data are available for two of the 83 grid cells identified as areas likely to be VMEs on Cobb Seamount. This includes data from AUV transects 2 and 4 from the 2012 Cobb Seamount visual survey (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Supporting visual data used to identify VMEs on Cobb Seamount (green). AUV transects are from the 2012 Cobb visual survey (see Curtis et al. 2015). Areas likely to be VMEs (red) were identified by using predictive models of VME indicator taxa and applying a visual occurrence threshold of 0.86.

Step 5. Determine if VME criteria are met

The overlapping portion of transects AUV 2 and AUV 4 with the areas likely to be VMEs was divided into 12 and 13 sub transect segments of 50 m, respectively. The proportion of transect where one or more VME indicator taxa occur ranged from 0.06 to 1 (Figure 10). AUV transect 2 does not contain segments that meet the visual occurrence threshold and is therefore not identified as a VME (Figure 10a).

AUV 4 does contain two segments that meet the visual occurrence threshold. Sub-transect segments number 2 and 3 have a proportion of transect where one or more VME indicator taxa occur of 1 and 0.86, respectively (Figure 10b). Therefore, this portion of AUV 4 meets the criterion of being a VME. The 1-km² grid cell that this transect overlaps is therefore used to delineate the boundary of this VME.



Figure 10. Proportion of visual transect where one or more VME indicator taxa occur calculated per 50 m segment that overlaps with areas likely to be VMEs from (a) AUV transect 2 and (b) AUV transect 4 from the 2012 Cobb Seamount visual survey. The visual occurrence threshold is equal to 0.86 (dashed line) and transects with at least one segment that is equal to or greater than this threshold meets the criteria for a VME. There are two sub-transect segments where the proportion of transect with one or more VME indicator taxa occur meets or exceeds our visual occurrence threshold (AUV 4 sub-transect segments 2 and 3).

Our preliminary results for this Cobb Seamount example suggest one preliminary VME identified on the northwest part of Cobb Seamount at a depth of approximately 600 m with an area of 1km² (Figure 11). The two 50-m sections of transect AUV 4 that fall at or above our visual occurrence threshold had at least 16 colonies of 3 species of corals. Associated benthic epifauna included at least two species of fish, 5 species of sea stars, 2 species of sponges, and 1 species of decapod. Brittle stars were also common.



Figure 11. Preliminary areas that are likely to be VMEs (red) and one area that is a VME (yellow) using our proposed methodology applied to Cobb Seamount.

Fisheries interaction

In the NE part of the NPFC's CA, fishing activities are currently limited to a Canadian commercial Sablefish fishery. The fishery uses longline hook and trap gear, and trawl gear is not permitted in the seamount fishery (DFO 2013). Sablefish landings concentrate over several seamounts in the CA including Eickelberg, Warwick, Corn, Cobb, and Brown Bear Seamounts.

Canadian commercial Sablefish fishery landings data was obtained from the Fishery Operations System of DFO. Commercial fisheries data is protected as per Canada's Access to Information Act and Privacy Act. Therefore, landing locations in this working paper (Figure 12) were filtered to only display points where three or more vessels were reporting for a time and area of interest, also known as the "three boat rule."

By overlaying the Sablefish landing locations over the VMEs and areas likely to be VMEs on Cobb Seamount we see how the fishery is distributed compared to those areas and how they overlap (Figure 12). While the location of fishery landings in Figure 12 are approximate only, the true estimate of the fishery's landings that overlap with VMEs and areas likely to be VMEs are summarized in Table 3. Based on data from 2006-2019, 38 % of the total Sablefish fishery landings on Cobb Seamount overlapped with the VME and areas likely to be VMEs (Table 3).

Fishing has occurred in 51% of the areas likely to be VMEs and in the one 1-km² location identified as a VME.



Figure 12. Preliminary VME area (yellow) and areas likely to be VMEs (red) overlayed with approximate sablefish fishery landings locations from 2006-2019 on Cobb Seamount, presented according to Canada's "three boat rule." Fishing locations in this map are limited to points where three or more vessels reported landings for a time or area of interest to preserve confidentiality.

Table 3. Summary of Sablefish fishery landings overlapping with the preliminary areas identified as VMEs and areas likely to be VMEs. Fishery values are based on fishing records from the years 2006-2019 and include all species landed by the sablefish fishery, including incidental catch.

Summary of Sablefish fishery interaction with	Areas likely to	VMEs
preliminary areas	be a VME	
Total sablefish fishery landings overlapping with the	18,919	1,399
proposed area (sum in kg)		
Percent of sablefish fishery landings overlapping with the	38 %	2 %
proposed area		
Percent of area that fishing occurs in	51 %	100 %

CONCLUSIONS

In this paper, we propose one potential quantitative method to identify VMEs and areas likely to be VMEs in the NPFC CA. It is based on the current best available scientific data in the NE part of the NPFC CA and follows the SWG VME's decision tree to identify data that can be used to identify VMEs (NPFC 2021b). The NPFC has identified a total of four VMEs in its CA, including areas on Koko and Colahan Seamounts (Miyamoto & Yonezaki 2019), but the approaches used to identify them are semi-quantitative in nature and not easily repeatable by other members. Also, because of differences in the availability of data, Miyamoto and Yonezaki's (2019) approach is not readily applicable to the entire NPFC CA. We use PHM predictions and visual data from Cobb Seamount to demonstrate how our proposed methodology can be applied in the NPFC CA.

We describe our proposed quantitative method and aim to revise it and then apply it to the NE part of the NPFC's CA. The results of our case study on Cobb Seamount are preliminary and have no management implications; we are not recommending that these areas be identified as VMEs or areas that are likely to be VMEs. We also note that our proposed method may not identify all VMEs or areas likely to be VMEs; there may be areas in the NPFC's CA that meet criteria for being identified as such using other methods and/or that draw on a different set of the FAO (2009) criteria.

The application of quantitative methods (e.g. Kenchington et al. 2014, Morato et al. 2018, Rowden et al. 2020) for identifying VMEs in the NE part of the NPFC CA is currently constrained by general data availability. Additional visual surveys designed to collect community-level presence-absence data would strengthen the development of our PHMs and provide opportunities to validate our predictions. As more data are collected that can be incorporated into our approach, results can be iteratively updated through periodic review of our analyses.

Next steps

We welcome any comments or suggestion from NPFC members, observers, or stakeholders on the methodology we have outlined in this working paper to identify VMEs or areas likely to be VMEs in the NPFC's CA. We will use these comments and suggestions to revise our approach and apply it in the NE part of NPFC CA. When we have revised and applied our method to parts of the NE Pacific Ocean, areas that are identified as likely to be VMEs will become priorities for visual surveys to assess the abundance and richness of benthic species. We are also committed to undertaking periodic reviews of our analyses as new data or information become available.

REFERENCES

- Anderson OF, Guinotte JM, Rowden AA, Tracey DM, Mackay KA, and Clark MR. (2016). Habitat suitability models for predicting the occurrence of vulnerable marine ecosystems in the seas around New Zealand. Deep-Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers, 115: 265–292.
- Ardron JA, Clark MR, Penney AJ, Hourigan TF, Rowden AA, Dunstan PK, Watling L, Shank TM, Tracey DM, Dunn MR and SJ Parker. (2014). A systematic approach towards the identification and protection of vulnerable marine ecosystems. Marine Policy, 49:146– 154.
- Beazley L, Wang Z, Kenchington E, Yashayaev I, Rapp HT, Xavier JR, Murillo FJ, Fenton D, and Fuller S. (2018). Predicted distribution of the glass sponge Vazella pourtalesi on the Scotian Shelf and its persistence in the face of climatic variability. PLoS One 13, e0205505.
- Budinger TF. (1967). Cobb Seamount. Deep Sea Research and Oceanographic Abstracts, 14:191-201.
- Calder DR and Watling L. (2021). Report on hydrozoans (Cnidaria), excluding Stylasteridae, from the Emperor Seamounts, western North Pacific Ocean. Zootaxa, 4950: 201–247.
- Chu JWF, Nephin J, Georgian S, Knudby A, Rooper C, Gale KSP, and Curtis JMR. (2020) MaxEnt modelling of biogenic habitat-forming cold-water corals and sponges in the Northeast Pacific region of Canada (in Curtis JMR & Kiyota M (Eds.) Report of Working Group 32 on Biodiversity of Biogenic Habitats). PICES Scientific Reports, 57:1–20.
- Chu JWF, Nephin J, Georgian S, Knudby A, Rooper C, and KSP. (2019). Modelling the environmental niche space and distributions of cold-water corals and sponges in the Canadian northeast Pacific Ocean. Deep-Sea Research Part I, 151:103063.
- Chu JWF and Leys SP. (2010). High resolution mapping of community structure in three glass sponge reefs (Porifera, Hexactinellida).Marine Ecology Progress Series,417:97–113.
- Clark MR, Rowden AA, Schlacher T, Williams A, Consalvey M, Stocks KI, Rogers AD, O'Hara TD, White M, Shank TM, and Hall-Spencer JM. (2010). The Ecology of Seamounts: Structure, Function, and Human Impacts. Annual Review of Marine Science, 2:253–278.
- Curtis JMR, Du Preez C, Davies SC, Pegg J, Clarke ME, Fruh EL, Morgan K, Gauthier S, Gatien G, and Carolsfeld W. (2015). 2012 Expedition to Cobb Seamount: Survey methods, data collections, and species observations. Canadian Technical Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 3124: xii + 145 p.
- Dautova TN, Galkin, SV, Tabacknik KR, Minin KV, Kireev PA, Moskovtseva AV and Adrianov AV. (2019). The First Data on the Structure of Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems of the Emperor Chain Seamounts: Indicator Taxa, Landscapes, and Biogeography. Russian

Journal of Marine Biology, 45: 408–417.

- Davies AJ and Guinotte JM. (2011). Global habitat suitability for framework-forming deepwater corals. PLoS One, 6:e18483.
- Du Preez C, Curtis JMR, Davies SC, Clarke ME, and Fruh EL. (2015). Cobb Seamount Species Inventory. Canadian Technical Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 2122: viii + 108 p.
- Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) (2009). The FAO International Guidelines for the Management of Deep-sea Fisheries in the High Seas. United Nations Food and Agricultural Organization, Fisheries and Aquaculture Department. Available at: <u>http://www.fao.org/fishery/topic/166308/en</u>
- Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) (2019). VME indicators, thresholds and encounter responses adopted by R(F)MOs in force during 2019. Available at: <u>https://www.fao.org/in-action/vulnerable-marine-ecosystems/vme-indicators/en/</u>
- Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO). 2013. A review of sablefish population structure in the northeast pacific ocean and implications for Canadian seamount fisheries. DFO Canadian Science Advisory Secretariat. 2013/017. Available at: <u>http://wavesvagues.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/Library/349898.pdf</u>
- Fleishman E, Murphy DD, and Brussard PF. (2000). A new method for selection of umbrella species for conservation planning. Ecological Applications, 10: 569–579.
- Franklin J. (2010). Mapping species distributions: spatial inference and prediction. Cambridge University Press.
- Georgian S, Morgan L, and Wanger D. (2021). The modeled distribution of corals and sponges surrounding the Salas y Gómez and Nazca ridges with implications for high seas conservation. PeerJ 9:e11972.
- Guinotte JM and Davies AJ. (2014) Predicted deep-sea coral habitat suitability for the U.S. West Coast. PLoS ONE, 9:e93918.
- Harris PT, Baker E, Harris PT, Macmillan-Lawler M, Rupp J, and Baker EK. (2014). Geomorphology of the oceans Geomorphology of the oceans. Marine Geology, 352:4–24.
- Horton T, Kroh A, Ahyong S, Bailly N, Boyko CB, Brandao SN et al. (2021) World Register of Marine Species (WoRMS). Available at: <u>https://marinespecies.org</u>
- International Council for the Exploration of the Sea (ICES). 2021. Workshop on the use of Predictive Habitat Models in ICES Advice (WKPHM). ICES Scientific Reports, 3:67. 100p.
- International Hydrographic Organization (IHO). (2019). B6 Standardization of undersea feature names: guidelines proposal form terminology Ed. 4.2.0.
- Kenchington E, Murillo FJ, Lirette C, Sacau M, Koen-Alonso M, Kenny A, Ollerhead N, Wareham V, and L Beazley. (2014). Kernel Density Surface Modelling as a Means to

Identify Significant Concentrations of Vulnerable Marine Ecosystem Indicators. PLoS ONE 9:e109365.

- Merow C, Matthew JS, and Silander JA. (2013) A practical guide to MaxEnt for modeling species' distributions: what it does, and why inputs and settings matter. Ecography, 36: 1058–1069.
- Miyamoto M, Kiyota M, Hayashibara T, and Nonaka M. (2017). Megafaunal composition of cold-water corals and other deep-sea benthos in the southern Emperor Seamounts area, North Pacific Ocean. Galaxea, Journal of Coral Reef Studies, 19:19–30.
- Miyamoto M and Yonezaki S. (2019). Updating assessment of the potential impacts of Japanese bottom fisheries on vulnerable marine ecosystems (VMEs) in the Emperor Seamounts region. NPFC-2019-SSC VME04-WP02. 17 pp.
- Morato T, Pham CK, Pinto C, Golding N, Ardron JA, Munoz PD and F Neat. (2018). A multicriteria assessment method for identifying vulnerable marine ecosystems in the North-East Atlantic. Frontiers in Marine Science, 5:460.
- North Pacific Fisheries Commission (NPFC). 2019. Conservation and Management Measure (CMM) 2019-06 for Bottom Fisheries and Protection of Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems in the Northeast Pacific Ocean. Available at: https://www.npfc.int/cmm-2019-06bottom-fisheries-and-protection-vmes-ne-pacific-ocean
- North Pacific Fisheries Commission (NPFC). (2021a). Conservation and Management Measure (CMM) 2021-05 for Bottom Fisheries and Protection of Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems in the Northeast Pacific Ocean. Available at: <u>https://www.npfc.int/cmm-2021-05-bottom-fisheries-and-protection-vmes-nw-pacific-ocean</u>
- North Pacific Fisheries Commission (NPFC). (2021b). Summary of 3rd meeting of the Small Working Group on VME (SWG VME03). SC-SWG intersessional document.
- Nottingham MK, Williams DC, Wyeth MR, and Olsen N. (2018). Summary of the west coast Haida Gwaii synoptic bottom trawl survey. August 24 – September 19, 2012. Canadian Manuscript Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 3133. 55pp.
- Parker T and Tunnicliffe V. (1994). Dispersal strategies of the biota on an oceanic seamount: implications for ecology and biogeography. Biological Bulletin, 187:336–345.
- Phillips SJ, Anderson RP, and Schapire RE. (2006). Maximum entropy modeling of species geographic distributions. Ecological Modelling, 190:231–259.
- Rowden AA, Anderson OF, Georgian SE, Bowden DA, Clark MR, Pallentin A, and Miller A. (2017). High-resolution habitat suitability models for the conservation and management of vulnerable marine ecosystems on the Louisville Seamount Chain, South Pacific Ocean. Frontiers in Marine Science, 4:335.
- Rowden AA, Pearman TRR, Bowden DA, Anderson OF, and Clark MR. (2020). Determining Coral Density Thresholds for Identifying Structurally Complex Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems in the Deep Sea. Frontiers in Marine Science, 7:95.

- Spalding MD, Fox HE, Allen GR, Davidson N, Ferdaña ZA, Finlayson M, Halpern BS, Jorge M A, Lombana A, Lourie SA, Martin KD, McManus E, Molnar J, Recchia CA, and Robertson J. (2007). Marine ecoregions of the world: A bioregionalization of coastal and shelf areas. BioScience, 57:573–583.
- Stauffer G. (2004) NOAA protocols for groundfish bottom trawl surveys of the Nation's fishery resources. U.S. Department of Commerce. NOAA Technical Memo. NMFS-F/SPO-05, 205p.
- United Nations General Assembly (UNGA). (2006). United Nations General Assembly Resolution 61/105 (UNGA 61/105). Sustainable fisheries, including through the 1995 Agreement for the Implementation of the Provisions of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea of 10 December 1982 relating to the Conservation and Management of Straddling Fish Stocks and Highly Migratory Fish Stocks, And Related Instruments.
- Warawa D, Curtis JMR, Rooper CN, Gardner L, and Chu JWF. (2020). Process for Analyzing Trade-offs between Fishing and Vulnerable Marine Ecosystem Protection. North Pacific Fisheries Commission NPFC-2020-SSC BFME01-WP13
- Winship AJ, Thorson JT, Clarke ME, Coleman HM, Costa B, Georgian SE, Gillett D, Gruss A, Henderson MJ, Hourigan TF, Huff DD, Kreidler N, Pirtle JL, Olson JV, Poti M, Rooper CN, Sigler MF, Viehman S, and Whitmire CE. (2020). Good practices for species distribution modeling of deep-sea corals and sponges for resource management: data collection, analysis, validation, and communication. Frontiers in Marine Science, 7:303.

ANNEXES

ANNEX 1 – Additional details on Predictive Habitat Models (PHMs)

Table 1. PICES WG32 environmental data layers used in PHM development (from Chu et al.2019 and Chu et al. 2020).

Variable name	Units	Native Resolution	Reference
Bathymetry-derived variables			
Bottom depth	metres	0.0083°	Becker et al. 2009; Sandwell
			et al. 2014
Aspect – east-facing [eastness]		0.0083°	Jenness 2013a
Aspect – north-facing [northness]		0.0083°	Jenness 2013a
Curvature – General [gencurve]		0.0083°	Jenness 2013a

Curvature – Cross-Sectional [crosscurve]		0.0083°	Jenness 2013a
Curvature – Longitudinal [longcurve]		0.0083°	Jenness 2013a
Slope	degrees	0.0083°	Jenness 2013a
Roughness [VRM]		0.0083°	Sappington et al. (2007)
Bathymetric position index [bpi]		0.0083°	Jenness 2013b
(1000m, 5000m, 10000m 20000m)			
Chemical variables			
Alkalinity	µmol l ⁻¹	3.6 x 0.8–1.8°	Steinacher et al. (2009)
Dissolved inorganic carbon [DIC]	µmol l ⁻¹	3.6 x 0.8–1.8°	Steinacher et al. (2009)
Omega - aragonite (Ω_{ARAG}) [$arag$]		3.6 x 0.8–1.8°	Steinacher et al. (2009)
Omega - calcite (Ω_{CALC}) [<i>calc</i>]		3.6 x 0.8–1.8°	Steinacher et al. (2009)
Dissolved oxygen [oxygen]	ml l ⁻¹	1°	Garcia et al. 2014a
Phosphate	µmol l ⁻¹	1°	Garcia et al. 2014b
Silicic acid [dSi]	µmol l ⁻¹	1°	Garcia et al. 2014b
Nitrate	µmol l ⁻¹	1°	Garcia et al. 2014b
Particulate organic carbon [POC]	G C m ⁻² yr ⁻¹	0.5°	Lutz et al. (2007)
Physical variables			
Temperature	°C	0.25°	Locarnini et al. 2013
Salinity	pss	0.25°	Zweng et al. 2013
Current velocity — regional [regfl]	m s ⁻¹	0.5°	Carton et al. (2005)
Current velocity — vertical [vertfl]	m s ⁻¹	0.5°	Carton et al. (2005)
Current direction [curdir]	degrees	0.5°	Carton et al. (2005)
Current direction — relative to aspect	degrees	0.5°	Rooper et al. (2014)
[curapsect]			
3D current-surface angle [<i>curang</i>]	degrees	0.5°	Chu et al. (2019)
Surface-layer properties			
Chlorophyll-a [<i>chl-a</i>]	mg m ⁻³	4 km	Aqua Modis (NOAA)
Photosynthetically active radiation [PAR]	W m ⁻²	4 km	Aqua Modis (NOAA)
Sea Surface Temperature [SST]	°C	4 km	Aqua Modis (NOAA)

Table 2. The ranked, individual contributions of environmental predictors used in MaxEnt models of each VME indicator taxon. The ranked importance was calculated using a jackknife test that calculates model performance using AUC as variables are iteratively removed. Percent importance is presented as the mean of the n=100 bootstrapped model runs. Full variable names are described in Table 2 of Annex 3.

Rank	Black corals	k corals Stony corals Gorgonian corals		Stony corals		Non-gorgoni	Non-gorgonian soft corals	
	Variable	%	Variable	%	Variable	%	Variable	%
1	Oxygen	47.8	Oxygen	14.0	PAR	36.9	Roughness	36.0
2	PAR	19.2	Chl-a	13.4	Oxygen	16.3	Oxygen	16.3
3	Regfl	7.4	SST	13.3	BPI20000	11	POC	8.2
4	SST	6.4	Roughness	10.8	Chl-a	7.4	PAR	7.3
5	Curdir	3.2	BPI20000	9.4	POC	5.2	Chl-a	7.1
6	Arag	2.4	POC	8.6	Eastness	4.0	Regfl	5.7
7	POC	2.3	Northness	5.2	Arag	3.9	Eastness	3.3
8	Chl-a	1.8	Curdir	5.2	SST	3.8	Arag	2.8
9	Eastness	1.8	Slope	4.9	Curdir	2.5	BPI20000	2.6
10	Slope	1.7	Regfl	4.2	Regfl	2.2	SST	2.5
11	Northness	1.6	Eastness	3.5	Roughness	1.9	Slope	2.4
12	BPI20000	1.5	Arag	3.4	Slope	1.6	Curdir	2.2
13	Curaspect	1.0	PAR	2.8	Northness	1.2	Northness	1.8
14	Roughness	0.9	Curaspect	0.9	Curapsect	1.0	Curaspect	1.4
15	Vertfl	0.6	Crosscurve	0.4	BPI5000	0.6	Vertfl	0.2
16	Crosscurve	0.3			vertfl	0.2	Crosscurve	0.1
17	curang	0.1					curang	0.04
18								



Figure 1. MaxEnt predictions of habitat suitability index (HSI) for the four NPFC VME indicator taxa at Cobb Seamount. Bathymetric contour intervals are in 100 m increments. Model predictions have been restricted to a maximum depth of 1,600 m.



Figure 2. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves used to assess performance with each of the PHMs. Independent presence and absence records of each of the VME indicator taxa observed in the visual survey data are used to validate the predictions from their respective PHM. We used the logistic prediction value that maximizes sensitivity and specificity to convert the logistic predictions into presence-absence binary values to calculate additional metrics presented in Table 3 of the main text.



ANNEX 2 – Alternative results for VMEs and areas likely to be VMEs

Figure 3. Alternative preliminary areas using a visual occurrence threshold of 0.7 to identify areas that are likely to be VMEs (red) and two areas that are VMEs (yellow) using our proposed methodology applied to Cobb Seamount.

Table 3. Summary of sablefish fishery landings overlapping with the alternative preliminary areas identified as VMEs and areas likely to be VMEs using a threshold of 0.7. Fishery values are based on fishing records from the years 2006-2019 and include all species landed by the sablefish fishery, including incidental catch.

Summary of Sablefish fishery interaction with	Areas likely to	VMEs
preliminary areas (threshold = 0.7)	be a VME	
Total sablefish fishery landings overlapping with the area (sum in kg)	51,168	1,399
Percent of sablefish fishery landings overlapping with the area	65 %	2 %
Percent of proposed area that fishing occurs in	30 %	50 %

ANNEX 3 – Visual data taxa

VME group	Species
Gorgonian	Swiftia simplex
Gorgonian	Isididae
Gorgonian	Primnoidae
Non-gorgonian soft Coral	Heteropolypus ritteri
Non-gorgonian soft Coral	Gersemia sp
Black Coral	Bathypathes sp
Black Coral	Lillipathes sp
Black Coral	Stichopathes sp
Stony Coral	Desmophyllum dianthus

Table 4. NPFC VME indicator taxa observed in the AUV photos from Cobb Seamount.

ANNEX REFERENCES

- Aqua MODIS. (2014). NASA Goddard Space Flight Center, Ocean Ecology Laboratory, Ocean Biology Processing Group (2014): MODIS-Aqua Ocean Color Data. <u>http://dx/doi.org/10.5067/AQUA/MODIS_OC.2014.0</u>
- Becker JJ, Sandwell DT, Smith WHF, Braud J, Binder B, Depner J, Fabre D, Factor J, Ingalls S, Kim SH, Ladner R, Marks K, Nelson S, Pharaoh A, Trimmer R, Von Rosenberg J, Wallace G, and Weatherall P. (2009). Global Bathymetry and Elevation Data at 30 Arc Seconds Resolution: SRTM30 PLUS. Marine Geodesy,32:355-371.
- Carton A and Giese BA. (2008). A reanalysis of ocean climate using Simple Ocean Data Assimilation (SODA). Monthly Weather Review 136:2999–3017.
- Chu JWF, Nephin J, Georgian S, Knudby A, Rooper C, and Gale KSP. (2019). Modelling the environmental niche space and distributions of cold-water corals and sponges in the Canadian northeast Pacific Ocean. Deep-Sea Research Part I, 151:103063.
- Jenness JS. (2013a). DEM Surface Tools. Jenness Enterprises. Available at: www.jennessent.com/arcgis/surface_area.htm
- Jenness JS. (2013b). Land Facet Corridor Designer. Jenness Enterprises. Available at: www.jennessent.com/arcgis/landfacets.htm
- Sandwell DT, Müller RD, Smith HF, Garcia E, and Francis R. (2004). New global marine gravity model from CryoSat-2 and Jason-1 reveals buried tectonic structure. Science 346:65–67.
- Sappington JM, Longshore KM, and Thompson DB. (2007). Quantifying landscape ruggedness for animal habitat analysis: A case study using bighorn sheep in the Mojave desert. Journal of Wildlife Management, 71:1419–1426.
- Steinacher M, Joos F, Frolicher TL, Plattner CK, and Doney SC. (2009). Imminent ocean acidification in the Arctic projected with the NCAR global coupled carbon cycleclimate model. Biogeosciences, 6:515-533.
- Garcia HE, Locarnini RA, Boyer TP, Antonov JI, Baranova OK, Zweng MM, Reagan JR, Johnson DR. (2014a). World Ocean Atlas 2013, Volume 3: Dissolved Oxygen, Apparent Oxygen Utilization, and Oxygen Saturation. Eds: Levitus S, Mishonov A. NOAA Atlas NESDIS 75. 27 pp.
- Garcia HE, Locarnini RA, Boyer TP, Antonov JI, Baranova OK, Zweng MM, Reagan JR, and Johnson DR. (2014b). World Ocean Atlas 2013, Volume 4: Dissolved Inorganic Nutrients (phosphate, nitrate, silicate). Eds: Levitus S, Mishonov A. NOAA Atlas NESDIS 76. 25 pp.
- Lutz MJ, Caldeira K, Dunbar RB, and Behrenfeld MJ. (2007). Seasonal rhythms of net primary production and particulate organic carbon flux to depth describe the efficiency of biological pump in the global ocean. Journal of Geophysical Research, 112:C10011.
- Locarnini RA, Mishonov AV, Antonov JI, Boyer TP, Garcia HE, Baranova OK, Zweng MM,

Paver CR, Reagan JR, Johnson DR, Hamilton M, and Seidov D. (2013). World Ocean Atlas 2013, Volume 1: Temperature. Eds: Levitus S, Mishonov A. NOAA Atlas NESDIS 73. 40 pp.

- Rooper CN, Zimmermann M, Prescott MM, Hermann A. (2014). Predictive models of coral and sponge distribution and diversity in bottom trawl surveys of the Aleutian Islands, Alaska. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 503:157–176.
- Zweng MM, Reagan JR, Antonov JI, Locarnini RA, Mishonov AV, Boyer TP, Garcia HE, Baranova OK, Johnson DR, Seidov D, and Biddle MM. (2013). World Ocean Atlas 2013, Volume 2: Salinity. Eds: Levitus S, Mishonov A. NOAA Atlas NESDIS 74. 39 pp.